IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL CARUSO, JR.,)
Appellant,)
vs.) CASE NO. 73,507
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.	
)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida)

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
301 N. Olive Avenue/9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R"	Record on Appeal
"1SR"	First Supplemental Record (Pursuant to this Court's Order of November 20, 1989)
"2SR"	Second Supplemental Record (Pursuant to this Court's Order of June 28, 1990)
"3SR"	Third Supplemental Record (Pursuant to this Court's Order of October 12, 1990)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Michael Caruso, Jr., was charged with two counts of first degree murder that occurred on December 6, 1987 (R 2243). Jury selection began on September 19, 1988. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal (R 1520, 1771). Appellant's motions were denied (R 1524, 1772). The jury found Appellant guilty as charged of all offenses (R 2321, 2322). Appellant was adjudicated guilty of the offenses (R 2348).

The jury voted 11 to 1 for life imprisonment for both murders (R 2142). The trial court sentenced Appellant to life in prison for one killing and overrode the jury's decision and sentenced Appellant to death for the other killing (R 2352, 2353).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The relevant facts are as follows. Officer Martin Smith of the Pembroke Pines Police Department testified that on December 6, 1987, at approximately 8:30 a.m. he was dispatched to 8411 N.W. 15th Court in Pembroke Pines (R 565-566). Smith could not gain entry to the residence (R 568). Firefighter Michael Holtz took an axe and took out six (6) panels of the door and went inside the residence (R 568). Holtz unlocked the front door and Smith and two firefighters entered the residence (R 568). Smith observed a woman's body lying in the kitchen (R 569). Holtz advised Smith that she was dead (R 569). Smith told the firefighters to leave the residence (R 569). Smith observed visquene piled in the hallway (R 570). Smith could not tell what was under the visquene (R 574-575). Smith observed a second body lying halfway in the

hallway and halfway in the bedroom. The front door had been open while Smith was inside the house and the scene had not been secured at that point (R 581).

Officer Steve Faby testified that he arrived at the scene at 7:42 a.m. (R 596). Officer Smith, paramedics, firefighters, and Appellant and his mother were there (R 596). Appellant was standing twenty (20) feet from the door of the residence (R 597). The front door was open (R 625). Faby went inside and observed a female who had been beaten on the head and face (R 599). Faby also saw a male whose face was covered with some type of plastic (R 599). Faby could not see the female from the front door (R 600). Faby exited the residence and proceeded to clear and rope off the area (R 598).

Faby talked to Appellant at the scene (R 605). Appellant was approximately 5'6" and weighed 140 pounds (R 605). He was wearing shorts and a t-shirt and his hair was wet (R 605-607). Appellant stated that at about 7:30 a.m. he was returning from a morning walk by taking a shortcut across the front lawn of the residence to his house next door (R 606-607). Appellant saw what appeared to be a dark colored man, approximately 5'10" tall, looking out the front window (R 606). Appellant made eye contact with the subject and the subject backed away from the window (R 606). Appellant didn't feel that the person belonged to the residence so he knocked on the front door and windows to check on the well-being of the Lelands (R 607). Nobody answered (R 607). Appellant went to the back door and looked inside (R 607). Appellant saw the body of Mrs. Leland and went next door to his house and called the police and paramedics (R 607). Faby later looked in the window and could

tell that someone was lying on the floor, but couldn't tell who it was (R 609). Faby further testified that during the eight (8) hours he was at the scene Appellant would have a number of mood swings from being fairly calm to being hostile (R 612).

Detective Jorge Corpion of the forensic services unit testified that he arrived at the scene at 9:15 a.m. (R 641). Corpion walked through the scene (R 643). There appeared to be fresh tool marks on the door panel and door frame side of the front door (R 643). A tip of a knife was found near the door mat (R 644). A single strand of hair was found on the door mat (R 644). Seventeen latent prints were found at the scene (R 663). Prints were found on the outside and inside of the middle panel of the front door (R 664-666). Other prints were taken off the lock area of the door (R 758).

Corpion testified that inside the southeast bedroom all the drawers were pulled out, the mattress was eschew to the box spring, and purses had been laid on top of a dresser (R 648). A print was lifted from the door of the room (R 761). A tube of cling wrap was later found in the closet (R 648). Prints were taken of the roll of Saran Wrap (R 708). Blood was found on the edges of the roll (R 681). Corpion entered the northeast bedroom where the body of Mr. Leland was found at the entrance (R 649). There was blood splattered on the walls near the entrance to the bedroom (R 649). The bed sheets had been pulled and there were blood smears on the bed (R 649). Everything that was handled inside the bedroom appeared to have been handled by a bloody towel or piece of cloth (R 650). A print was lifted from the phone (R 761). A towel was later found in the bathroom (R 650). It was wet

with water (R 763).

Corpion also testified that there was blood on the wall phone that was sitting on top of a portable dishwasher (R 645). Mrs. Leland's body was laying partly in the kitchen and partly in the dining room area (R 644). She had a number of stab wounds and trauma (R 652, 685). It appeared that the trauma was caused by something like the champagne bottle which was found shattered near Mr. Leland (R 768). Mr. Leland's body had plastic around it (R 652). After the plastic was removed, Corpion saw another piece of plastic around Mr. Leland's head (R 653). A box labelled "Saran Wrap" was found in the hallway near Mr. Leland's body (R 747). There were a number of wounds to Mr. Leland (R 653, 684).

Corpion also testified that Appellant had numerous cuts and abrasions about his hands and forearms (R 721). Based on a lack of scabbing, the cuts appeared to be fresh (R 722). Corpion didn't ask Appellant about the cuts or abrasions (R 756). The next morning, Corpion saw Appellant making a statement to Channel 10 News (R 738).

Matt Nickison of the Pembroke Pines fire department arrived at the scene with Michael Holtz and Sandy Butt at approximately 7:45 a.m. (R 1010). They met with Appellant and his father who said that they thought something might be wrong (R 1010). Nickison went to the back of the house with Appellant (R 1011). Appellant pointed where a body was through a window (R 1011). Later, after Nickison entered the residence, he checked the body of Mrs. Leland (R 1013). She had a long laceration on her forehead and blood pooled up in her eyes (R 1014). Holtz found signs of rigormortis (R 1014). Nickison noticed another body that had the top half

wrapped in visquene (R 1015). One had to be 4 or 5 feet towards the front door to see the body (R 1015). The door had remained open after the three medics went inside (R 1019). Because he was busy doing his job, Nickison could not say if others were inside the house (R 1016). Nickison was in the house 3 to 5 minutes (R 1022).

Firefighter Sandy Butt testified that she arrived at the scene with the others and Appellant showed them through a back window where a body was lying (R 1029). Butt could see the head and the hair when looking through the window (R 1030, 1034). Michael Holtz entered and let the others in through the front door (R 1030). The female patient was cold and rigormortis had set in (R 1031). Butt noticed another patient in the hallway (R 1031). He had a plastic bag wrapped around his head (R 1032). There was a broken bottle by his head (R 1032).

Detective George Miller of the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified that he arrived between 9:15 and 9:30 a.m. to help Detective Corpion (R 774). Miller observed pry marks on the front door (R 776). There was a broken knife tip lying on the concrete just underneath the door (R 776). There were workable prints on the wall phone (R 800). The phone appeared to have been moved and wiped down (R 800). A shoe impression was found in the southeast bedroom, but there was no sole design (R 795). When the medical examiner removed the plastic wrap off the body of the male, there was Saran Wrap around the head (R 791). When Miller was near the body of the female he could also see the body of the male (R 805). Miller testified that one can't see down the hallway from the front door (R 810).

Latent print examiner Jeanine McKenzie of the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified that she received 17 latent prints from Detective Corpion and 5 latent prints from Detective Miller (R 961-962). McKenzie identified one of the prints on the wall phone as belonging to Detective Miller (R 961-962). Some of the prints on the interior doorway to the bedroom were those of Detective Corpion (R 980). Gordon Leland's prints were found on a number of locations (R 981, 983). A thumbprint of James Montgomery was found on the wall phone (R 982). The left ring and left middle finger prints of Appellant were found on the inside middle panel of the front door to the house (R 972). A number of workable prints of value were found in the house, but were not identified to anyone (R 990-993). Prints at the bottom and top of the doorknob and from the inside panel were workable, but not identified to anyone (R 990-991). A workable print from the interior of a bedroom was not identified to anyone (R 991). A workable palm print from a bedroom was not identified to anyone (R 991-992). One of the prints from the telephone receiver was not identified (R 993). Four to five friction characteristics were found on the Saran Wrap (R 994). McKenzie tried to compare them with Appellant's prints, but came to the conclusion that there was not enough friction ridges to make an identification to anybody (R 994).

Howard Seidan of the Broward County Sheriff's Office crime laboratory testified that he received hair samples of the victims and an unknown hair that was located on the front door of the Leland residence (R 1316). Seidan concluded that the unknown hair came from a caucasian head similar to Genevieve Leland (R 1318).

Detective Charles Edel testified as an expert in blood stain

and blood pattern analysis (R 901). Edel noticed, that in the hallway, blood was on the walls 18 to 20 inches from the floor (R 903). In Edel's opinion, Mrs. Leland's head was near the floor during the attack (R 905). Blood stains were found 48 inches above the floor surface near the dresser in the bedroom (R 903). Edel opined that Mr. Leland was struck at a low position (R 913). Edel also concluded that the assailant had very little blood on him (R 913).

Marge Klinger testified that she knew Gordon and Genevieve Leland (R 1055-1058). Ms. Klinger identified the victims as Mr. and Mrs. Leland (R 1058).

Dr. Felipe Dominguez, the medical examiner for Broward County, testified that he had performed the autopsies on Genevieve and Gordon Leland (R 824, 837). Mrs. Leland's death was caused by multiple stab wounds and blunt head trauma (R 837). The trauma was consistent with the broken champagne bottle found near Mr. Leland (R 830). Mrs. Leland had been stabbed a total of six times (R 829).

Dominguez testified that Mr. Leland had nine stab wounds to his back (R 838). There was one stab wound to the front (R 838-839). There were injuries consistent with being hit with a bottle (R 839). Dominguez opined that because blood on the wall was found two inches from the ground, Mr. Leland may have been hit while on the ground (R 840). Mr. Leland had wounds to his hands and one to his left elbow (R 841-842). The wound to the front chest lacerated a few of the pulmonary arteries (R 843). Dominguez opined that the cause of death was blunt head trauma and multiple stab wounds (R 853). Dominguez opined that the time of death was between midnight

and 2:00 a.m. (R 855). The stab wound over the ears of the Lelands was sufficient in itself to cause death (R 864).

It. Thomas Walsh testified that he arrived at the scene at 8:30 a.m. (R 1077). Walsh observed Appellant at the scene and noticed that he looked very emotional; he looked "almost possessed" (R 1082). Walsh noticed that Appellant had cuts on his hands and that on a number of occasions he changed clothes (R 1083). Walsh doesn't know what Appellant changed into (R 1089). A couple of weeks after the killings, police came into possession of a charm, butterfly, and a necklace (R 1086). The Lelands' grandson indicated that the necklace belonged to his grandmother (R 1086). Walsh also testified that although Officer Smith had not seen Appellant in the house, Smith told Walsh that the possibility of Appellant being in the house when the officers were first at the scene could not ruled out (R 1091).

Craig Quinn testified that he met Appellant when he was dating Appellant's sister (R 1194). On Saturday, December 5, 1987, Appellant called Quinn and told him that he wanted to go out (R 1195). Appellant wanted to smoke crack cocaine (R 1271-1272). Quinn testified that was the only thing Appellant did (R 1271). Quinn said, "no" (R 1195). Appellant called Quinn the next morning and told him that the people next door had been murdered (R 1195). Appellant told Quinn that he had gone into the house with the police or paramedics (R 1245, 1247). Later that day Quinn drove to Appellant's house (R 1196). Appellant was high (R 1206). Appellant was on something like drugs or pills (R 1285). He appeared to be very sluggish (R 1285). He was very short-fused, short tempered and couldn't talk straight (R 1286). Appellant asked Quinn to tell

his father that he was with Quinn the night before and that Quinn had Appellant's bicycle at his house (R 1197). Quinn said he would (R 1197). Quinn told Appellant's father that the bicycle was at his house and that Appellant was with him watching tapes (R 1197). Appellant had an argument with his father in the kitchen (R 1207). Quinn testified that he and Appellant next went to Alpine Village (R 1198). Once they had parked the car, Appellant ran into the field and got his bike (R 1198). The boys then went to Weston to do some interior installation (R 1209). They didn't get much work done because Appellant kept tripping over lamps and breaking bulbs (R 1209). Quinn prodded Appellant about the night before (R 1209). Appellant said he was out all night (R 1209). Quinn and Appellant went to Quinn's grandmother's house so that Quinn could give Appellant money (R 1210). Quinn gave Appellant \$20.00 cash (R 1210). Appellant did not have any money other than the \$20.00 (R 1252). That night Appellant and Quinn smoked cocaine (R 1250).

Quinn further testified that there was a time the police contacted him (R 1212). Quinn obtained a piece of butterfly jewelry from Appellant because he said he needed a gift for his grandmother and Appellant owed him money (R 1281). Quinn turned it over to the police (R 1257). Appellant told Quinn that he had a lot of gold jewelry (R 1214). Quinn tried to obtain a knife with a broken tip from Appellant (R 1216). Appellant gave Quinn the knife and Quinn turned it over to the police (R 1216). According to Quinn, Appellant stated that he had broke the tip off on the old lady next door (R 1217). After the gold jewelry was given to the police, Appellant took his father's chain saw to a pawn shop (R 1259). Quinn testified that Appellant had gotten him involved

in crack cocaine (R 1266).

Officer David Belusko of the Pembroke Pines police department testified that he went to the scene to talk with the news media (R 929). Belusko saw Appellant in front of his home talking with several detectives (R 932). Appellant looked distressed when the bodies were brought out, his lips were quivering and he turned away (R 937). After Belusko left the scene, Dana Banker, a police reporter for the Sun-Tattler, came to his office (R 938, 941).

Dana Banker testified that she went to the crime scene at about noon to do a story (R 1107). Banker talked to Appellant (R 1108). Appellant was out walking or jogging (R 1108). Appellant said he saw a face in the window of the Leland house and became suspicious and knocked on the doors and window (R 1109). Appellant looked into a window and saw Mrs. Leland on the floor (R 1109). Appellant then got his mother next door (R 1109). Appellant said that he followed the police or emergency rescue in the residence when they first arrived at the scene (R 1113-1114). Appellant said that Mrs. Leland had been stabbed in the eyes and everywhere else and that Mr. Leland had Saran Wrap wrapped around his head (R 1109). Banker interviewed the police, including Detective Belusko (R 1111). She asked him about the stabbing of the eyes and the Saran Wrap (R 1111).

Detective Angelo Pazienza arrived at the scene at 8:30 a.m. (R 1324). Pazienza went in the house and saw a box labelled Saran Wrap laying next to Mr. Leland's body (R 1324, 1417). Pazienza talked to Appellant because he was told that Appellant had discovered the bodies (R 1326). Appellant gave a statement to Pazienza which was taped and played to the jury (R 1335-1350).

In the taped statement Appellant said that he went for a walk between 7 and 7:30, and cut through the Leland's yard (R 1337). Appellant saw a black man inside the house (R 1339). Appellant knocked on the front door and then went to the side and banged on the window (R 1342). Appellant went to his mother and told her that something was wrong (R 1342-1343). Appellant and his mother went to the door, but no one answered (R 1343). Appellant went to the back and looked through the screen door and saw Mrs. Leland laying on the floor (R 1343). Appellant's mother said, "Oh my God" and they went back to their house (R 1345). Appellant's father called the police (R 1345). They waited until the paramedics arrived (R 1345). Later, the paramedics and a police officer entered the Leland house (R 1346). Appellant also entered (R 1346). Appellant saw Mrs. Leland lying on the floor and there was blood on the walls (R 1346). Appellant looked over and saw another body with plastic or something around the head (R 1347). Appellant stated that he had taken a shower before talking to Pazienza (R 1347). Appellant's taped statement indicated that he had seen the Leland's the day before and was going to clean their awnings (R 1350).

Detective Pazienza testified that he had noticed cuts on Appellant's hands (R 1354). Pazienza also testified that sometime after 10 a.m., Appellant indicated that he was going to call a press conference (R 1363). Pazienza collected Appellant's shirt and sneakers (R 1364). Pazienza went inside Appellant's house (R 1363). Appellant's mother was doing the wash (R 1364). She does the wash everyday (R 1364). Appellant slept in the livingroom, he did not have a bedroom or dressers (R 1365). Whenever, he had

dirty clothes his mother would wash them (R 1365).

Pazienza testified that Appellant's behavior would fluctuate (R 1435). Sometimes it was extremely violent and uncontrollable (R 1435). At one point Appellant was acting crazy and yelling at anybody (R 1368). Pazienza talked to Craig Quinn about Appellant (R 1375). Quinn told Pazienza that Appellant had a knife without a tip that might be significant (R 1424). Quinn provided Pazienza with a knife without a tip (R 1426). The knife could not fit with the tip found outside the Leland residence (R 1427). Pazienza testified that portions of what Quinn told him was not being corroborated (R 1427).

Pazienza also testified that one could not see Mr. Leland's body by standing next to Mrs. Leland's body (R 1403). However, if one moved back toward the front door, and looked down the hall, one could see Mr. Leland (R 1403).

Myrel Walker testified that she lives at 8451 N.W. 15th Court in Pembroke Pines (R 1493). Walker came home on December 5, 1987, at approximately midnight (R 1494, 1497). She saw someone standing at her door (R 1495). He came toward her car and asked to use the phone because his car had broken down (R 1496). Walker did not let him use her phone (R 1496). There was a shiny object in his pocket (R 1497). He headed east down the street (R 1497). At the deposition she said he headed north (R 1508). He was 5'6" and weighed 140 lbs. and had blonde hair (R 1498). Walker got up on Sunday and noticed police cars in the area (R 1499). She told the police what she had seen the night before (R 1499). She later saw the person on television (R 1500). She told the police and a few days later was shown a video (R 1501). Walker identified Appellant

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