IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 4 1991 V

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 73,507

MICHAEL CARUSO, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SYLVIA H. ALONSO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 767190 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

GUILT PHASE:

- 1. The admission of evidence pertaining to appellant's drug use is barred from appellate review based on appellant's failure to properly preserve this issue. Nonetheless, appellant's drug use was relevant to establishing motive, and was therefore admissible.
- 2. The autopsy photograph at issue depicted several stab wounds to Mrs. Leland's eyes which were not visible unless the scalp was pulled back. This evidence was relevant to the State's theory that appellant knew details of the crime which only the perpetrator would know.
- 3. The prior inconsistent statement that the Carusos were afraid of their son was properly admitted for purposes of impeachment where the statement at issue related to a non-collateral issue at trial. Nonetheless, even if admission of the statement is error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 4. Appellant opened the door to the testimony regarding appellant's possession of the chain saw and his pawning of same during the cross-examination of Craig Quinn; additionally, appellant failed to object to similar testimony by Betty Quinn and Patrick Sheehan, thus precluding appellate review of this issue. On the merits, the evidence was pertinent to prove motive, in that appellant committed the murders of the Lelands during the course of a burglary where appellant stole items to pawn for money in order to sustain his drug habit.

- 5. Appellant did have notice that the State might introduce evidence of appellant's drug activities around the time of the murders. Nonetheless, even of the State's notice was inadequate under §90.404(2)(b) the trial court conducted an adequate pretrial inquiry into the procedural prejudice which appellant might suffer as a result of the failure to comply with the notice requirements of the statute.
- 6. Appellant knew the medical examiner's estimate of the victim's time of death based on various pretrial depositions and on appellant's arrest warrant. Regardless, the trial court conducted an adequate inquiry into the alleged violation and allowed appellant an opportunity to acquire his own expert to rebut the medical examiner's testimony. As such, appellant was not prejudiced by the alleged discovery violation. The same holds true regarding the cuts on appellant's arms.
- 7. There was other testimony admitted at trial, without objection, that only the murderer would know about certain details of the crime. Thus, the propriety of the statement at issue was not preserved for review, and is merely cumulative of other evidence. Nonetheless, when read in context, the statement was made while the officer was explaining why he failed to tell anyone about the saran wrap around Mr. Leland's head; the statement was not a conclusion. Indeed, according to the State's theory, appellant was the perpetrator because he knew details of the crime which only the murderer would know.

- 8. Any distortions in the photos caused by the six week time difference between the date of the murders and the date the pictures were taken went to the weight to be given the evidence, not its admissibility. There was thus no error in admitting same.
- 9. The error in improperly bolstering Myrel Walker's testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, especially in light of the fact that the testimony at issue did not pertain to a material aspect of the offense and her consistently positive identification of appellant.
- 10. Officer Faby's and Raimondi's testimony was not hearsay as it was offered to show what the officers did pursuant to information received during the course of the investigation. Further, no details of the information given by Ms. Walker were included in the testimony. In any event, appellant was not prejudiced thereby since appellant had the opportunity to cross examine Ms. Walker, and any error was therefore harmless.
- 11. Officer Martin's testimony that a paramedic told him the Leland residence was secured was offered to show the police officer's steps upon arriving at the Leland home. Having not been offered for the truth of the matter asserted, the statement was not hearsay and was not erroneously admitted.
- 12. That the presumption of innocence was diluted by various remarks is belied by the fact that none of the statements were objected to for purposes of appellate review. When read in context, none of the statements were improper, and in any event, the trial court's instructions to the jury cured any error.

- 13. The trial court's instruction to the jury venire regarding the readback of testimony was not timely objected to, and is subsequently barred from review. When counsel did object at the end of trial, the judge cured the error by advising the petit jury that they could request to have testimony read back.
- 14. Where the trial court advised the jury that, "those folks who take notes are not to be given greater weight than those folks who have not taken notes," there was no error in allowing the jurors to take notes.
- 15. The trial court's tangential comment that circuit court cases are reviewed by appellate courts was given as part of an introduction explaining how the court system operates. When read in context together with the other instructions read to the jury regarding reasonable doubt, the presumption of innocence, and the burden of proof, no error was committed.
- 16. The testimony that appellant refused to be fingerprinted absent his arrest was not preserved for review by objection. Nonetheless, since fingerprinting is non-testimonial, appellant's fifth amendment rights were not violated.
- 17. The court's instruction on reasonable doubt, which tracked the language of the standard jury instructions, did not violate appellant's constitutional rights.
- 18. Appellant did not object to proceeding to trial on alternative theories of first degree murder, and is thus barred from raising same on appeal. In any event, there was no error.

19. As there was sufficient evidence to prove that appellant was the perpetrator of the crimes, and that the murders were premeditated, the trial court properly denied appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal.

PENALTY PHASE:

- 20. The trial court's finding that four aggravating factors and no mitigating factors were established is supported by the record. As such, the trial court's override of the jury's advisory sentence recommending life is not erroneous.
- 21. Since the trial court was well aware of the fact that victim impact evidence was irrelevant to sentencing, the trial court's admission of victim impact evidence was harmless. That the victim impact evidence did not affect appellant's sentence is evidenced by the trial court's written order and the imposition of a life sentence for Mrs. Leland's murder.
- 22. The trial court's finding that the murders were heinous, atrocious and cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated, was proper. Moreover, the trial court considered the mitigating evidence, but found that none were established.
- 23. In accordance with prior rulings from this Court and the United States Supreme Court, Florida's death penalty statute is not unconstitutional.
- 24. The aggravating factors applicable <u>sub judice</u> are not unconstitutional.
- 25. The override of the jury's life recommendation was in conformance with the standards enunciated in Tedder v State, 322

So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), and is therefore not arbitrary and capricious.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID TOMABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING APPELLANT'S DRUG INTO EVIDENCE WHERE RELEVANT APPELLANT'S MOTIVE IN ESTABLISH COMMITTING THE MURDERS.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in admitting appellant's drug activities Appellant's into evidence. objections are twofold: first, appellant challenges the trial court's pretrial ruling admitting collateral crimes evidence to prove motive; this testimony was to focus on appellant's drug activities during the week of the murders. Secondly, appellant testimony which referred admission of challenges the appellant's drug activities outside of the one week time period previously set by the court. However, the State maintains that this Court is precluded from reviewing the issue on two grounds: there was not a proper objection below, and any error was invited by the appellant. In any event, the evidence complained of was relevant to prove appellant's motive in committing the murders. As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing same into evidence.

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved in limine to exclude Craig Quinn's testimony regarding appellant's crack cocaine use around the time of the murders; nonetheless, even appellant admitted that if the State could establish that appellant had a drug habit, it would explain appellant's motivation in robbing and killing the victims (R. 6-7). The prosecutor indicated that the State's theory of the case was that appellant needed money to

support his drug habit, and that in the course of committing a burglary on the victims' home, appellant committed the instant murders; however, while the prosecutor indicated that the evidence of appellant's drug use two to three weeks around the time of the murders was relevant to prove motive, he advised that he was unsure whether the State would seek to elicit said testimony (R. 7-8, 19). The court finally ruled that evidence of appellant's drug usage for a one week period around the time of the murders would be admissible (R. 22).

Prior to the testimony of Dana Banker, defense counsel renewed his objection to evidence of appellant's drug use through the testimony of Craig Quinn; defense counsel requested, and the trial court granted, a continuing objection to the testimony (R. James Montgomery was called subsequent to Dana 1097-1100). Banker; thereafter, the trial court heard a proffer of Craig delusion Ouinn's testimony regarding a drug-induced which occurred two days before the murders (R. 1116, 1152-1162). Betty Quinn then testified, followed by Craig Quinn (R. 1168, 1192). Appellant did not renew his objection to the collateral crimes evidence at that point.

During the direct examination of Craig Quinn, the State did not elicit any testimony regarding appellant's drug use; rather, Quinn testified that on the night of Saturday, December 6, appellant called Quinn to go out, but Quinn declined (R. 1195). On Sunday, December 7, the day that appellant allegedly discovered the victims' bodies, Quinn picked up appellant at

appellant's home at approximately 3:00 p.m. (R. 1196). Quinn and appellant eventually went to an area of Miami where black people lived because appellant knew a lot of the people there, and appellant went inside one of the black people's homes (R. 1211. Quinn stated that whenever appellant had some cash, Quinn would take appellant to that specific area of Miami (R. 1215). Thus, the prosecutor excluded any specific mention of drugs on direct examination.

However on cross-examination, Quinn testified that he had a drug problem (R. 1224-1225). Quinn denied that appellant had called him on Saturday for the purpose of discussing the work on Sunday (R. 1230-1231). Appellant further elicited the fact that on that Sunday evening, Quinn had ingested cocaine which he had purchased from the black people in Miami; Quinn specified that he purchased the drug through a line of credit which he had established with them (R. 1250-1251). Quinn also testified that appellant had stated that appellant had been arrested in Davie on a reverse sting (R. 1255).

Thus, based on the testimony elicited by appellant during cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Quinn on redirect about his drug activities in December, 1987 (R. 1266). Quinn stated that he became involved with crack through the appellant, and that it was appellant who would take Quinn down to Miami to purchase the drugs which he and the appellant would subsequently ingest together (R. 1267-1269). Quinn then described in detail his and the appellant's drug activities during the time period

commencing December 1, 1987 up through and including Sunday, December 7, 1987. Quinn stated that on Saturday, the appellant had called him because appellant wanted to party, i.e. smoke cocaine (R. 1271). On Sunday, as on previous occasions, appellant was to work with Quinn, but appellant liked to be paid for his work in cash so that he could use the cash to purchase drugs. (R. 1260-1274).

On recross, Quinn testified that the appellant smoked more crack cocaine than he did. Defense counsel further questioned Quinn about Quinn's statement regarding appellant's arrest in a reverse sting (R. 1289, 1290).

Following Quinn's testimony, the court adjourned for the day. At the commencement of trial the following day, defense counsel objected to the testimony which referred to appellant's drug use beyond the time parameters previously set by the Court, i.e. one week during the time of the murders (R. 1297-1298). The court responded, stating:

It was my understanding you wanted to make a standing objection with respect to my ruling with respect as to the day -- I'm sorry, with the one week period. That testimony would be admissible.

(R. 1300). The trial court consequently found that defense counsel had opened the door to the complained of testimony, and that defense counsel's objections were untimely. As such, the trial court denied appellant's motion for mistrial (R. 1300-1301). Appellant did not request a curative instruction.

Based on the foregoing, appellant has failed preserve the admission of the collateral crimes evidence for purposes of appellate review. First, appellant did not renew his objection to the collateral crimes evidence prior to the admission of Craig Quinn's testimony, Phillips v State, 476 So.2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1985); Crespo v State, 379 So.2d 191 (Fla. 4th DCA) cert. denied. 388 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1980). Secondly, by asking Quinn about his drug activities on cross-examination, defense counsel opened the door to the evidence elicited by the prosecutor on redirect examination, Capehart v State, 16 F.L.W. S447 (Fla. June 13, 1991); See Holton v State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990); indeed, even in closing defense counsel argued that the State wanted the jury to believe that appellant was so high on cocaine that appellant would have done anything (R. 1849). Dobson v State, 566 So.2d 560 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Insofar as there was other evidence regarding appellant's drug use, without objection, appellant cannot now complain that the admission of same into evidence was error (R. 1181, 1183, 1375, 1436). Easter v State, 398 So.2d 838 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

Thirdly, as to the testimony which referred to appellant's drug use outside of the one week period previously set by the court, any objection was untimely since the objection was not raised until long after the conclusion of Quinn's testimony, <u>Castor v State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Further, as is evidenced by the exchange between counsel and the court, the trial judge was unaware of the particular grounds of

appellant's objections; thus, insofar as the trial court was not advised of appellant's particular objections to the evidence i.e. that it referred to appellant's drug activities prior to the time of the murders, appellant's previous objections lacked the specificity required to alert the trial court of the alleged erroneous testimony, and the alleged error is therefore not preserved. Rivers v State, 425 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1st DCA) review denied, 436 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1983); Johnston v State, 497 So.2d 863, 868-869 (Fla. 1986). Appellant has additionally waived the error by his failure to request a curative instruction. Id.

On the merits, it is well settled in Florida that collateral crimes evidence is admissible where relevant to show motive for the subsequent crimes and to provide the entire context of the crimes charged. Grossman v State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1071, 109 S.Ct. 1354, 103 L.Ed.2d 822 (1989); Tumulty v State, 489 So.2d 150 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 496 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1986); Heiney v State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984); \$90.404(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987). The proper test for admissibility is relevance. Id. Reversal is warranted only where the appellant can demonstrate an abuse of discretion in allowing same into evidence. Warren v State, 443 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Thus, in <u>Jackson v State</u>, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla.) <u>cert</u>. denied, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 183, 102 L.Ed.2d 153 (1988), the defendant shot and killed two victims as a result of arguments the defendant had had with the victims about drugs. Specific

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